

UNF Digital Commons

UNF Graduate Theses and Dissertations

Student Scholarship

2018

Vertical Distribution of Meroplankton and Bivalve Competition in a Well-Mixed Estuary

Jennifer M. Raabe University of North Florida

Suggested Citation

Raabe, Jennifer M., "Vertical Distribution of Meroplankton and Bivalve Competition in a Well-Mixed Estuary" (2018). UNF Graduate Theses and Dissertations. 843. https://digitalcommons.unf.edu/etd/843

This Master's Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Scholarship at UNF Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in UNF Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of UNF Digital Commons. For more information, please contact Digital Projects. © 2018 All Rights Reserved



VERTICAL DISTRIBUTION OF MEROPLANKTON AND BIVALVE COMPETITION IN A WELL-MIXED ESTUARY

by

Jennifer M. Raabe

A thesis submitted to the Department of Biology

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science in Biology

University of North Florida

College of Arts and Sciences

December 2018

Unpublished work © 2018 Jennifer M. Raabe

CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL

The thesis "Vertical distribution of meroplankton and bivalve settlement in a well-mixed estuary" submitted by Jennifer M. Raabe

Approved by the thesis committee:

Date

Dr. Matthew Gilg Committee Chair

Dr. Nicole Dix

Dr. Eric Johnson

Accepted for the Department:

Dr. Cliff Ross Chair, Department of Biology

Accepted for the College:

Dr. George Rainbolt Dean, College of Arts and Sciences

Accepted for the University:

Dr. John Kantner Dean of the Graduate School

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank my thesis advisor, Matthew Gilg. He has guided and challenged me and because of this I have become a better scientist and a better person. He has dedicated much of his time and effort, and has even lost sleep on this research. Matt, you have been a fixture in my life for over 5 years. You have seen me through some hard times and I will be forever grateful for your friendship and understanding. I would like to thank my committee members, Nikki Dix and Eric Johnson, for their time, guidance, advice during my candidacy. Nikki, you're a scientific puzzle master. Eric, you're a statistical wizard. Thank you both for lending your skills to this research. You both have helped me become a better scientist. I would also like to acknowledge and thank all of the volunteers that assisted me both in the laboratory and in the field. I know there were some trying moments, and I thank you all for your time and effort, and at times, lost sleep. I would also like to thank my family – my father, my mother, and my sister – for their unwavering support as I furthered my education and my future. My friends who were always there for me during the highs and the lows. You lifted me up when my energy and drive were low, and for that, I will be eternally grateful. I would like to thank the UNF Graduate School and Coastal Biology Program for providing funding for this research. I would also like to thank Dale Casamatta for allowing me the use of his fluorometer, and the GTM NERR staff for assisting me in the field and in the laboratory.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
Acknowledgementsiii
List of Figures and Tablesv
Abstract1
Chapter 1: Vertical distribution of meroplankton in a well-mixed estuary in Northeast Florida
Introduction
Materials and Methods7
Study Sites7
Water Sample Processing7
Plankton Collection8
Plankton Sample Processing8
Statistical Analysis9
Results10
Discussion12
References
Chapter 2: Native and non-native bivalve settlement: potential competition for spatial resources in a Northeast Florida estuary
Introduction26
Materials and Methods
Study Sites
Statistical Analysis32
Results
Discussion
References42
Vitae

LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURES

Figure 1.1	P Site Map. The locations of the San Sebastian (SS) and Bing's	age
	Landing sites	48
Figure 1.2	Collection device used in the collection of plankton at different depths	.49
Figure 1.3	Differences in larval abundances of different taxonomic groups at three different depths (near surface, midwater, near bottom)	.50
Figure 1.4	Differences in larval abundances of different taxonomic groups during different tides (spring, neap)	51
Figure 1.5	Significant interaction for crab larval abundance between depth (near surface, midwater, near bottom) and tidal currents (flood, ebb)	.52
Table 1.1	ANOVA and Kruskall-Wallis H Test results on larval abundances at different depths, tides, tidal currents, and light levels	.53
Figure 2.1	Site Map. The locations of the main channel collection sites San Sebastian (SS) and Bing's Landing (BL), and the feeder creek sites Oyster Creek (OC) and Pellicer Creek (PC)	.54
Figure 2.2	Settlement collectors with collection plates at different depths for the feeder creek sites and the main channel sites	.55
Figure 2.3	Differences in spat abundance of different bivalve species during each collection month	.56
Figure 2.4	Differences in spat abundance of different bivalve species at different depths (top, mid, bottom) between habitats (feeder creek, main channel)	.57
Figure 2.5	Differences in environmental variables (temperature, salinity, fluorescence) between habitats (feeder creek, main channel) across both sampling seasons (summers 2013 and 2014)	.58
Table 2.1	Mann-Whitney U test results comparing spat abundances of each species	.59
Table 2.2	Mann-Whitney U test results comparing settlement of bivalves per plate between sites within the feeder creek (Oyster Creek, Pellicer	

	Creek) and sites within the main channel (San Sebastian, Bing's Landing).	60
Table 2.3	Mann-Whitney U test results comparing settlement of bivalves per plate between habitats (feeder creek, main channel)	61

ABSTRACT

If we want to understand how meroplankton utilize the water column and how their vertical distribution may influence horizontal advection, it is important to study their behavior in the various environments where they exist. In a well-mixed system with physical cues dampened, and no vertical layering, these organisms will have to depend on environmental cues such as light, tidal current, and tide cycle, as well as their own swimming ability to migrate vertically. Plankton and water samples were collected at three depths (near surface, midwater, near bottom) during the summers of 2013 and 2014 from sites within the main channel of the Intracoastal Waterway. Six taxonomic groups were collected including polychaetes, bivalves, gastropods, barnacles, tunicates, and crabs, and fell into one of three categories of vertical distribution.

Certain preferences for vertical distribution, and habitat, of sessile invertebrates can increase, or provide refuge from, competition. To assess the potential competition for spatial resources between native and nonnative bivalves in the Guana Tolomato Matanzas estuary, settlement collectors with settlement plates at different depths were deployed for one month periods during the summers of 2013 and 2014 at two main channel sites and two feeder creek sites. Competition would likely be highest subtidally and within the main channel due to all species occurring in that habitat in higher numbers than the feeder creek.

CHAPTER 1

VERTICAL DISTRIBUTION OF MEROPLANKTON IN A WELL-MIXED ESTUARY IN NORTHEAST FLORIDA

Introduction

Most benthic marine invertebrates have a free-swimming stage which allows larvae to repopulate and maintain the local population or increase the species' range by settling in new habitat away from the source population (Tapia et al., 2010). Once released, larvae can spend hours to months in the water column depending on the species, and may be transported great distances before transforming into the adult form (e.g. Pechenik, 1999; Pineda, 2000; Dobretsov & Miron, 2001). This life history trait may aid in limiting competition for resources with adults during early development, increasing genetic variation in the next generation, or connecting populations across spatial and temporal scales (e.g. Pechenik, 1999; Cowen et al., 2000). Invertebrate larvae of most species do not have the ability to actively swim horizontally against or at speeds greater than currents, meaning that dispersal of larvae is primarily at the whim of prevailing currents (e.g. Cowen et al., 2000; Bilton et al., 2002; Cowen & Sponaugle, 2009). Larvae of some species, however, have the ability to adjust their position vertically in ways that can allow them to control or modify dispersal (e.g. Carricker, 1951; Whalan et al., 2008; Lloyd et al., 2012a). The ability for larvae to overcome physical advection through their vertical migration behavior is dependent on size, and limiting environmental factors such as water density (Gallager et al., 1996) and turbulence (Garrison, 1999).

In some cases, vertical movement may allow larvae to take advantage of countercurrents in order to facilitate horizontal advection (Davis & Butler, 1989; McQuaid & Phillips, 2000; Dobretsov & Miron, 2001). This behavior may be triggered by biotic (e.g. food or predators) or abiotic (e.g. diurnal cycles, turbulence, gravity, density, salinity, and temperature) influences (e.g. Stancyk & Feller, 1986; Raby et al., 1994; Dobretsov & Miron, 2001; Hays, 2003; Knights et al., 2006; Breckenridge & Bollens, 2011). For example, zoea of most crab species swim near the surface during flood tide, and descend during ebb tide using salinity and turbulence as cues in order to be transported out of the estuary or bay to continue development in coastal waters (e.g. Epifanio et al., 1984; Queiroga et al., 1997; Garrison, 1999; DiBacco et al., 2001). On the other hand, Banse (1986) determined that polychaete and echinoderm larvae behaved as passive, neutrally buoyant particles and their vertical distribution only changed due to hydrographic influences, with no changes due to the diurnal cycle.

Due to the various combinations of biological and hydrographic influences worldwide, different patterns of vertical larval distributions have been established for meroplankton. Much of this research has been conducted in natural stratified systems (e.g. Ouellet & Allard, 2006; Lloyd et al., 2012a; Walkusz et al., 2013), or in a laboratory setting under controlled conditions (Gallager et al., 1996). While laboratory experiments allow us to develop expectations of larval behaviors, they limit our understanding of the behaviors exhibited by larvae in the natural environment due the inability to recreate every condition found in the natural setting. Similarly, the utility of field studies is limited if they are only conducted in a subset of possible environments. Furthermore, most studies focus on the actions of a single species, so more general taxonomic patterns are harder to discern. Since many species differ markedly in their swimming mechanisms and abilities (e.g. Chia et al., 1984), findings in one taxonomic group are not always relatable to other groups. These shortcomings result in a substantial gap in our understanding of how larvae of many taxa behave in well-mixed systems.

The few studies conducted in a well-mixed water column primarily focus on different species of bivalves and the results of these studies suggest that patterns of vertical distribution of bivalve larvae are species-specific or even stage-specific. For example, the larvae of the sea scallop, *Placopecten magellanicus*, was evenly distributed throughout a mixed water column, yet

were concentrated above the pycnocline in stratified waters (Tramblay & Sinclair, 1990). A model was also created by utilizing information from laboratory studies to predict larval growth and behavior in the Eastern oyster, *Crassostrea virginica* (Dekshenieks et al., 1996). The model predicts that smaller (younger) larvae will be homogeneously distributed in well-mixed conditions, and the oldest larvae will primarily be found near the bottom (Dekshenieks et al., 1996). Similarly, late stage *C. virginica* larvae were observed to be most abundant near the benthos and least abundant near the surface (Baker & Mann, 2003). Baker and Mann (2003) also observed late stage larvae of other species and discovered that *Cyrtopleura costata* (clam) and *Bankia gouldi* (shipworm) displayed the same pattern as *C. virginica*, while *Geukensia demissa* (mussel) displayed the reverse pattern with larval abundance highest near the surface and least near the benthos. Since similar studies have only been conducted on bivalves and decapods, it leaves a gap in our current understanding.

Thus far, it is also rare to see studies which include patterns of vertical distribution of multiple taxonomic groups with different swimming mechanisms and life histories, simultaneously. In the few cases where these studies have been done, they have been carried out during upwelling and downwelling events in inner-shelf waters (Garland et al., 2002), through a deep, Antarctic straight with different hydrographic influences (Vazquz et al., 2007), and in a vertically stratified, shallow embayment (Lloyd et al., 2012a). To the Author's knowledge there have been no studies that have focused on the vertical distribution of meroplankton of multiple taxonomic groups in a shallow, well-mixed estuary. If we want to understand how meroplanktonic larvae of different species utilize the water column and how their vertical distribution may influence horizontal advection, it is important to study their behavior in the various environments where they exist.

In the current study, we examined the vertical distribution of 6 taxonomic groups with varying life histories, and swimming abilities. Different developmental types are utilized by marine invertebrates including planktotrophy, lecithotrophy, direct development, and mixed development, though about 70% of marine species utilize free-swimming planktotrophic development (e.g. Caswell, 1981; Jablonski & Lutz, 1983; Giangrande et al., 1994). Some taxonomic groups utilize different development types in different species (e.g. Jablonski & Lutz, 1983). For example, the gastropod Littorina irrorata has a planktotrophic development while the gastropod Connus pennaceus employs mixed development where the larvae are encapsulated in an egg, but then emerge as free-swimming, pre-metamorphic larvae (e.g. Caswell, 1981; Jablonski & Lutz, 1983). Many planktotrophic larvae use cilia for locomotion while others use muscular propulsion (e.g. Chia et al., 1984). We hypothesize that free-swimming planktotrophic larvae that utilize cilia for locomotion such as polychaetes, gastropods, and bivalves would find it more difficult to control their vertical position, and are more likely to show homogeneous vertical distribution. Conversely, we would expect that strong swimming larvae that utilize muscular propulsion such as crabs, shrimp, barnacles, and tunicates would more easily control their vertical distribution and, therefore, will be more likely to display stratification throughout the water column. In a well-mixed system with physical cues dampened, and no vertical layering, larvae will have to depend on environmental cues such as light, tidal current, and tide cycle, as well as their own swimming ability to migrate vertically. Therefore, the current study sought to determine whether larval abundances of various taxonomic groups varied with depths, tidal current, tide, and light levels.

Materials and Methods

Study sites

Sample collection was conducted from May to September 2013 and June to August 2014 within the Intracoastal Waterway (ICW) of Florida at 2 locations approximately 28.6 km apart (Fig. 1.1). The sampling location designated SS was located at the mouth of the San Sebastian River which empties into the ICW. Sampling took place at the green Daybeacon "1" (29° 52.131 'N; 81° 18.446 'W) which has a mean tidal range of 1.306 m and a mean depth of 3.9 m (NERRS, 2018). The second sampling location was located approximately 28.5 km south of site SS at the red Daybeacon "118" (29° 37.560'N; 81° 12.578'W) and designated BL since it is just north of the Bings Landing public boat ramp. Site BL has a mean tidal range of 0.449 m and a mean depth of 3.8 m (NERRS, 2018). Dix et al. (2013) found the site SS to be well-mixed, and it is assumed that BL is also well-mixed.

Collection cycles took place twice per month for three months (May – September 2103 and June – August 2014), and four collections were made at each site per collection cycle to include all tides within a 24-hour period (two flood and two ebb tides and both day and night). Collections were conducted at mid-incoming and mid-outgoing tides according to local tide tables, and within two days of either a spring or neap tide.

Water sample processing

To determine if the vertical distribution of larvae can be explained by temperature, salinity, or fluorescence, water samples were collected at each collection depth during each sampling event using a horizontal Alpha Water Sampler. Temperature and salinity were measured on-site using a YSI Pro 2030 water quality probe, while water samples were stored on ice and transported to the laboratory to test fluorescence using a Turner TD 700 Fluorometer. Fluorescence was used as a proxy for food by measuring chlorophyll-*a* in each water sample; an estimate of phytoplankton abundance.

Plankton collection

The vertical distribution of meroplankton was assessed by using a modification of a technique described by Dobretsov & Miron (2001) in which plankton nets with 53-µm mesh were placed at 3 evenly distributed depths (near surface: 0.5 m from the surface; mid-water: ~ 1.5 - 3.0 m from surface; near bottom: ~ 0.5 - 1.0 m from bottom) on a mooring line (Fig. 1.2). Plankton nets were attached to swivels allowing them to rotate to face the water current at all times. Interchangeable lengths of line were used between plankton nets to adjust the nets to depth during different tides. A flow meter was attached to the cod-end of each plankton net to determine the volume of water moving through the net in order to determine larval concentrations during each collection. A single assembly was deployed for approximately 30 minutes during each collection period. Samples were fixed on site in a ~3:1 ratio of 99.5% ethanol and seawater to be identified and counted at the laboratory using a stereoscope.

Plankton sample processing

Samples were processed by decanting the ethanol and seawater solution using a 53-µm mesh sieve. Samples were then processed according to methods described by Britton & Greeson (1989). Once the solution was removed, samples were diluted with distilled water to a volume that could be managed under the microscope as determined by the individual conducting the sorting. Samples were stirred in a Z-shape to avoid creating a vortex, which could concentrate the plankton in the center of the container. Subsamples of 1 mL were then removed from the sample using a pipet, and placed in a Sedgewick-Rafter counting cell. At least three subsamples from each sample were counted and major taxonomic groups were identified: bivalvia,

gastropoda, polychaeta, crustaceans and urochordata (identification manuals: Todd et al., 1996; Johnson & Allen, 2012). Due to their morphology being more easily distinguished under the microscope than the other groups, crustaceans were further divided into the groups of barnacles and crabs for analysis. For data analysis, the mean larval abundance was calculated for each sample using subsample counts and abundances. First, each subsample count was multiplied by the stored sample volume to determine the total number of larvae of each group within the subsample. Second, the total number of larvae of each group in each subsample was then divided by the volume of water filtered during sampling as determined by the flow meter to determine the mean abundance of each group in each subsample. Then, the mean larval abundance (M), in the form of individuals per cubic meter (ind./m⁻³), of group *i* in sample *j* was determined by using the following equation:

$$M_{ij} = \frac{1}{n_j} \sum_{i=1}^n D_{ij}$$

where n is the number of subsamples counted in sample j, and D is the mean abundance of group i found in each subsample.

Statistical analysis

Spearman's Rank-Order Correlation was performed to determine any relationships between depths and environmental variables (salinity, temperature, and fluorescence) in order to verify that the estuary was well-mixed during the time of sampling. To address the question: if larval abundances of various taxonomic groups vary with depths, tidal current, tide, and light levels, samples were pooled into two tidal current categories (ebb and flood), two tide categories (spring and neap), and two light level categories (day and night). Sampling events when the flowmeter was missing or displayed a negative distance were omitted from the dataset. Collections that took place during transitional times (dawn/dusk) were also removed from the dataset. There were 134 daytime and 99 nighttimes samples; 117 neap tide and 116 spring tide samples; and 111 flood tide and 122 ebb tide samples. Since larval abundances failed to meet the assumptions of normality and heterogeneity of variances, they were log(x + 2) transformed (Lloyd et al., 2012a, 2012b). A series of 1-way and 2-way ANOVAs were utilized to test the main effects of larval depth with either tidal current, tide, or light level. Any significant differences among depths would signify that the larval abundance of each taxonomic groups differs with depth. Any significant interaction term would indicate larval densities are changing vertically in response to the environmental variables. For any significant interaction terms discovered, the simple main effects with Bonferonni adjustment was reported, and revealed the degree to which one factor (environmental parameter) effects each level of the second factor (depth). Due to tunicates continuing to fail the assumptions of normality and heterogeneity of variances after transformation, the group was analyzed using untransformed abundances and the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis H test. The α -level for all statistical tests used was 0.05. All statistical tests were performed using SPSS 25.0.

Results

Using untransformed data, the most abundant taxa over all collections was polychaetes (37.65%), followed by bivalves (35.84%), gastropods (12.53%), barnacles (8.24%), tunicates (4.74%) and crabs (1%). Other taxonomic groups collected in fewer numbers were considered rare and were disregarded. Several groups showed different ontogenetic stages that could be reliably identified. For example, bivalve veligers and pediveligers, barnacle nauplii and cyprids, and crab zoea were all identified in some of the collections. In most cases, however, one of the life-stages was rare making statistical analysis of different age groups of the same taxa

unreliable. Therefore, all life stages were pooled for each taxonomic group. Although the system which was sampled had been determined as well-mixed in previous studies (e.g. Dix et al., 2013), temperature, salinity and fluorescence were tested at each depth during each sampling effort and no significant differences were found for any environmental variable across depths (Spearman's Rho tests: depth vs. salinity: $r_s = 0.078$, p = 0.238; depth vs. temperature: $r_s = -0.017$, p = 0.799; depth vs. fluorescence: $r_s = -0.002$, p = 0.981).

To determine if larval abundance for each taxonomic group differ across depths, larval abundance was pooled across collection dates and sites, and abundances among depths for each group was compared independently. Larval abundance did not differ significantly among depths in any of the taxonomic groups except gastropods. Gastropod larval abundance differed significantly among depths ($F_{(2,209)} = 3.471$, $MS_{Error} = 0.775$, p = 0.033) due primarily to greater abundance near bottom, although none of the pairwise comparisons were significantly different (Tukey's post hoc test: near surface vs. midwater: p = 0.984; near surface vs. near bottom: p = 0.062; midwater vs. near bottom: p = 0.109) (Fig. 1.3). There was a general (but not significant) trend towards greater abundance near bottom for all taxa, except barnacles and tunicates that both showed higher larval abundance near surface (Table 1.1., Fig. 1.3).

Crabs were the only taxonomic group to display a significant interaction term with an interaction between depth and tidal current (Fig. 1.5, Table 1.1). During flood tide, crab larvae were more abundant near bottom than near surface and midwater, while larval abundance did not differ among depths during ebb tide (pairwise comparisons: Flood tide: near surface (mean = 13.350) vs. midwater (mean = 10.605): p = 0.791; near surface vs. near bottom: (mean = 75.211) p = 0.044; midwater vs. near bottom: p = 0.027; Ebb tide: near surface (mean = 131.046) vs.

midwater (mean = 67.295) : p = 0.640; near surface vs. near bottom (mean = 18.388): p = 0.386; midwater vs. near bottom: p = 0.139).

Homogeneity across depths with higher abundance in response to a single environmental variable were observed for gastropods and crabs. Gastropod and crab larvae were more abundant during spring tide and were more scarce during neap tide (Gastropods: $F_{(2,209)} = 5.006$, $MS_{Error} = 0.775$, p = 0.026; Crabs: $F_{(2,209)} = 10.900$, $MS_{Error} = 0.457$, p = 0.001) (Fig. 1.4). Tunicate larval abundance showed a significant difference between tidal currents with overall larval abundance greater during ebb tidal current than flood tidal current (Kruskall-Wallis H test: H = 4.636, df = 1, p = 0.031) (Table 1.1). Any interactions between depth and environmental factors were unable to be determined for tunicate larvae due to the use of a Kruskal-Wallis H test. Therefore, whether tunicate larvae utilize different depths in response to any of the environmental variables could not be tested.

Discussion

The current study sought to determine if larval abundance for each taxonomic group differs across depths, and if abundances change in response to environmental parameters (tidal currents, tides, and light levels) in a well-mixed, subtropical estuary. Meroplankton in the study system fall into one of three categories: (1) homogenous throughout the water column with no difference in abundance in response to environmental factors, (2) homogeneous across depth but with differences in abundance in response to a single environmental variable or (3) homogenous in some conditions and aggregated at a certain depth in others. Bivalve, polychaete, and barnacle larvae all fall into the first category with homogenous distributions throughout the water column regardless of light level, tide, or tidal current. The second category includes gastropod and tunicate larvae. Gastropods were homogeneous across depths but were more abundant during spring tides, while tunicate larvae were homogeneous among depths but more abundant during ebbing tidal currents. Crab larvae were the lone taxonomic group in the third category with larvae homogenously distributed among depths during spring tides but aggregated near bottom during flood tide.

The homogeneous distribution observed for bivalve, polychaete, and barnacle larvae could be explained by one or more hypotheses. First, the pattern of homogeneity could be due to all species of these groups, and all age groups of these species, exhibiting no difference in larval abundance across depths due to their weak swimming abilities. Second, the majority of samples could be from a single species which displays patterns of homogeneity across depths and the other species are so rare that they do not disrupt the overall pattern. Third, the different species, or ontogenetic stages, within these groups show opposing patterns resulting in homogeneity when all species, or stages, are pooled together.

Previous research indicates bivalve larvae have a tendency towards aggregation at particular depths (e.g. Dekshenieks et al., 1996; Baker & Mann, 2003; Knights et al., 2006; Lloyd et al., 2012a). Therefore, it was unexpected that bivalves would display homogeneity in the current study. A higher abundance of oysters, *Crassostrea virginica*, than the other bivalve species, *Perna viridis, Geukensia demissa*, and *Mytella charruana* has been observed in the estuary (personal obs.). While the capture of multiple species is likely, it is more probable that oysters were dominating the bivalve pattern in most situations. *Crassostrea virginica* exhibits different vertical patterns and swimming behaviors at different ontogenetic stages (Chia et al., 1984; Dekshenieks et al., 1996; Baker & Mann, 2003). For example, a model based on oyster behaviors observed in the laboratory predicted smaller larvae to be distributed throughout the water column while the oldest were found near the benthos in a well-mixed water column

(Dekshenieks et al., 1996). A field study conducted in a well-mixed system also observed late stage oyster larvae more abundant near the benthos (Baker & Mann, 2003). The differences in vertical migrations at different ages may be the result of a change in larval behavior with competent larvae sinking towards the benthos (e.g. Chia et al., 1984; Dekshenieks et al., 1996; Baker & Mann, 2003). It has been suggested that the increase in mass may be responsible for the change in swimming abilities as younger, smaller bivalves are able to utilize cilia to support their mass, while the ciliated swimming of larger, more mature larvae is overpowered by sinking (Bayne, 1964; Chia et al., 1984; Baker & Mann, 2003). Thus, younger larvae would be higher in the water column while older larvae would be found nearer the benthos. Therefore, the most likely explanation for homogeneity found for bivalve larvae is that most of our samples were dominated by *C. virginica*, and opposing stage-specific distributions that have been pooled together were observed.

The same hypothesis can also be applied to the homogeneity observed for barnacle larvae. Ontogenetic stage-specific patterns have been described for some barnacles. For example, Tapia et al. (2012) observed that barnacle nauplii (early stage) were most abundant near the surface at all times, while cyprids (late stage) were in greater abundance in mid-depth and bottom layers. Since cyprid larvae are considered stronger swimmers than nauplii (e.g. Walker, 2004), it is unlikely that cyprids do not have the ability to swim near the surface. Therefore, the fact that they are typically found close to the bottom is better explained by more mature larvae sinking towards settlement substrate for further ontogenetic development. Since all ontogenetic stages of barnacles were pooled during our study, opposing depth patterns such as these could result in the observation of homogeneity across depths for this taxonomic group. The homogeneous distribution of polychaete larvae observed in this study may be explained by their weak swimming speeds $(0.01 - 0.02 \text{ cm s}^{-1}; \text{Chia et al., 1984})$. While various vertical distribution patterns have been described for polychaetes, these patterns may be tied to hydrographic processes in the study area (Banse, 1986). For example, early *Owenia fusiformis* larvae are mostly concentrated under the pycnocline when stratification is strong, yet are homogeneously distributed when stratification is weak (Thiébaut et al., 1992; Ataya et al., 2011). Thus, homogeneity would also be expected in a non-stratified system. Since polychaete larvae are considered one of the weakest swimmers, it is possible that larvae do not possess strong enough swimming abilities to penetrate through layers of different densities that are typically seen in stratified water columns. Therefore, the pattern observed in our study is likely due to vertical mixing overpowering larval swimming and controlling the distribution of polychaete larvae causing homogeneity.

Gastropods fall into the second category of larvae being uniformly distributed throughout the water column, but more abundant under certain environmental circumstances. Since gastropod larvae are able to regulate their vertical position within the water column with swimming speeds of 0.13 cm s^{-1} (Chia et al., 1984), the overall homogeneity of gastropod larvae among depths may be explained by a lack of stratification in phytoplankton, their food source. Lloyd et al. (2012b) found that the taxa *Littorinimorpha*, which includes *L. littorea*, had a strong, positive relationship with the fluorescence maximum. Since fluorescence was homogenous in the present study, there is no reason to expect *L. littorea* or other gastropods to congregate at a particular depth to feed.

Gastropod larvae were also significantly more abundant during spring tide than neap tide. The abundance of gastropod larvae during spring tide may be explained by gastropods spawning

in response to spring tides. *Littorina littorea*, the marsh periwinkle, is prominent within the estuary (Frazel, 2009) and is known to lay its eggs during spring tides. Larvae hatch after a few days spent in the egg capsule and spend between 11-30 days in the plankton (Fish, 1979). If gastropods regularly spawn during spring tides, mortality could lead to a pattern of greater abundance during spring tides than neap tides. Consequently, the pattern of gastropod larval abundance may be explained by larvae experiencing mortality after release from their egg capsules on the spring tide.

The overall homogeneity observed for tunicate larvae may be a result of different species utilizing distinct reproduction strategies. For instance, if brooded larvae and encapsulated larvae were released at different times, it could create a homogenous distribution. Several species of tunicates inhabit the estuary that undergo sexual reproduction in different ways. This includes two ovoviviparous species that release larvae after brooding, *Ecteinascidia turbinata* (mangrove tunicate) and *Amaroucium stellatum* (sea pork), and two species that utilize broadcast spawning which creates encapsulations, *Molgula manhattensis* (common sea grape) and *Styela plicata* (pleated sea squirt) (Berrill, 1931; Yamaguchi, 1975; Gotelli, 1987; Carballo et al., 2000; Frazel, 2009). Brooders release larvae approximately 7 to 9 days after fertilization (*E. turbinata*, Carballo et al., 2000), but larvae can be hatched from eggs after about 10 hours (*M. manhattensis*, Berrill, 1931). Therefore, the homogeneity throughout the water column was likely a combination of the lack of differentiation between species, and larvae being released at alternating intervals.

Broadcast spawning may be responsible for the influx of larvae during ebbing tides. Castilla et al. (2007) observed a broadcast spawning tunicate which spawned during flood tides, and subsequently observed tadpole larvae on the ebb tide a few hours later. The larval stage is

short-lived with larvae settling within minutes to hours after release (Yamaguchi, 1975; Davis & Butler, 1989), thus, quickly moving out of the water column and possibly beyond the depths sampled in this study soon after ebbing tides. Since some broadcast spawning tunicates can have multiple spawning events (*M. manhattensis*, Berrill, 1931; *Pyura stolonifera*, Marshall, 2002) it is likely this was also observed several times throughout the study causing the pattern of greater larval abundance during ebbing tides.

Crabs were the only group that showed significant differences in larval abundance among depths and changes in those depth patterns according to environmental variables. Crab larvae were more abundant near bottom during flood tide, homogenous during ebb tide, and showed greater overall abundance in spring tides than in neap tides. The pattern of greater abundance near bottom during a flood tide has been widely accepted as a transport mechanism (selective tidal-stream transport) for crab zoea to be exported offshore in taxa such as Callinectes sapidus (blue crab, Epifanio et al., 1984); Carcinus maenas (green crab, Queiroga et al., 1997); Ocypodidae (ghost and fiddler crab). Pinnotheridae (pea crabs), and Panopeidae (mud crabs) (Garrison 1999); and Pachygrapsus crassipes (DiBacco et al., 2001). Crab larvae avoid being transported further into the estuary by sinking lower in the water column to evade the incoming tidal current. In contrast, Epifanio et al. (1988) observed fiddler crab (Uca spp.) zoea in the Delaware River estuary displaying the opposite pattern once they enter the primary estuary from the marsh creeks with larval abundance greater near the surface during flood tide, and more abundant near bottom during ebb tide. A pattern such as this would promote retention in the estuary, which would be beneficial to fiddler crabs as megalopae of this taxa are weak swimmers (Epifanio et al., 1988). Since our data show crab larvae displaying a different pattern than seen

for fiddler crabs, it is perhaps an indication that our samples included a majority of a species that utilize selective tidal-stream transport such as blue crabs or mud crabs.

The overall greater abundance of crab larvae during spring tides may be caused by larval release from encapsulation. Hatching during spring tide is a characteristic of many estuarine crabs including the most abundant species in our estuary, *Callinectes sapidus* (blue crab) and *Uca spp*. (fiddler crab) (Morgan, 1987; Morgan & Christy, 1995; Frazel, 2009). Timing the release of larvae during a spring tide can result in seaward transport (Christy, 1982) which is vital for metamorphosis. Therefore, the patterns observed for crabs are responses to either being exported, or retained within the estuary.

The current study has shown that major groups of meroplanktonic larvae in a shallow, well-mixed estuary in Northeast Florida display several different patterns throughout the water column: homogeneity across depth and consistent abundance across time, homogeneity across depth with higher abundance associated with environmental cues, homogenous across depth in some conditions and aggregated at a certain depth in others. The overall patterns observed here are not congruent with patterns observed in studies conducted on various meroplankton in stratified systems. In those studies, many taxa are associated with various layers (e.g. pycnocline, halocline, thermocline, fluorescence maximum) or display diel migration, while the same taxa in the current study mainly display homogeneity, with the exception of crabs. The contrast between this study and those conducted in stratified waters may suggest that larvae simply do not migrate or display stratification in well-mixed systems, but previous studies conducted in well-mixed waters certainly observe some aggregation or migration of larvae. Differences in larval patterns between the current study and previous field studies in mixed systems may lie in the taxonomic resolution utilized in each study (Tramblay & Sinclair, 1990; Dekshenieks et al., 1996; Baker &

Mann, 2003). Since many of these taxonomic groups show species-specific vertical distributions in previous studies, future studies in our estuary should focus on differentiating between species within each group. Sampling throughout the year, or having a longer sampling season, in order to capture different ontogenetic stages would also be beneficial as some groups display differences in vertical distribution as they mature.

References

Ataya, S., R. Stolba, T. Comtet & E. Thiébaut, 2011. Meroplankton distribution and its relationship to coastal mesoscale hydrological structure in the northern Bay of Biscay (NE Atlantic). Journal of Plankton Research 33: 1193-1211.

Baker, P. & R. Mann, 2003. Late stage bivalve larvae in a well-mixed estuary are not inert particles. Estuaries 26: 837-845.

Banse, K., 1986. Vertical distribution and horizontal transport of planktonic larvae of echinoderms and benthic polychaetes in an open coastal sea. Bulletin of Marine Science 39: 162-175.

Bayne, B.L., 1964. The responses of the larvae of *Mytilus edulis* L. to light and gravity. Oikos 15: 162-174.

Berril, N.J., 1931. Studies in tunicate development. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London (B) 219: 281-346.

Bilton, D.T., J. Paula & D.D. Bishop, 2002. Dispersal, genetic differentiation, and speciation in estuarine organisms. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 55: 937-952.

Breckenridge, J.K. & S.M. Bollens, 2011. Vertical distribution and migration of decapod larvae in relation to light and tides in Willapa Bay, Washington. Estuaries and Coasts 34: 1255-1261.

Britton, L.J. & P. E. Greeson. 1988. Methods for collection and analysis of aquatic biological and microbiological samples. U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 88-0190. 685 p.

Carballo, J.L., 2000. Larval ecology of an ascidian tropical population in a Mediterranean enclosed system. Marine Ecology Progress Series 195: 159-167.

Carriker, M.R., 1951. Ecological observations on the distribution of oyster larvae in New Jersey estuaries. Ecological Monographs 21: 19-38.

Caswell, H., 1981. The Evolution of "Mixed" Life Histories in Marine Invertebrates and Elsewhere. The American Naturalist 117: 529-536.

Chia, F.S., J. Buckland-Nicks & C.M. Young. 1984. Locomotion of marine invertebrate larvae: a review. Canadian Journal of Zoology 62: 1205-1222.

Christy, J.H., 1982. Adaptive significance of semilunar cycles of larval release in fiddler crabs (Genus Uca): Test of a hypothesis. The Biological Bulletin 163:251-263.

Cowen, R.K., K.M.M. Lwiza, S. Sponaugle, C.B. Paris & D.B. Olsen, 2000. Connectivity of marine populations: Open or closed? 287: 857-859.

Cowen, R.K. & S. Sponaugle, 2009. Larval dispersal and marine population connectivity. Annual Review of Marine Science 1: 443-466.

Davis, A.R. & A.J. Butler, 1989. Direct observations of larval dispersal in the colonial ascidian *Podoclavella moluccensis* Sluiter: Evidence for closed populations. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 127: 189-203.

Dekshenieks, M.M., E.E. Hofmann, J.M. Klinck & E.N. Powell, 1996. Modeling the vertical distribution of oyster larvae in response to environmental conditions. Marine Ecology Progress Series 136: 97-110.

DiBacco, D., D. Sutton & L. McConnico, 2001. Vertical migration behavior and horizontal distribution of brachyuran larvae in a low-inflow estuary: Implications for bay-ocean exchange. Marine Ecology Progress Series 217: 191-206.

Dix, N., E. Phlips & P. Suscy, 2013. Factors controlling phytoplankton biomass in a subtropical coastal lagoon: Relative scales of influence. Estuaries and Coasts 36: 981-996.

Dobretsov, S.V. & G. Miron, 2001. Larval and post-larval vertical distribution of the mussel *Mytilus edulis* in the White Sea. Marine Ecology Progress Series 218: 179-187.

Epifanio, C.E., C.C. Valenti & A.E. Pembroke, 1984. Dispersal and recruitment of Blue Crab larvae in Delaware Bay, U.S.A. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 18: 1-12.

Fish, J.D., 1979. The rhythmic spawning behavior of *Littorina littorea* (L.). Journal of Molluscan Studies 45:172-177.

Frazel, D., 2009. Site profile of the Guana Tolomato Matanzas National Estuarine Research Reserve. Ponte Vedra, Fl. 151pp.

Gallager, S.M., J.L. Manuel, D.A. Manning & R. O'Dor, 1996. Ontogenic changes in the vertical distribution of giant scallop larvae, *Placopecten magellanicus* in 9-m deep mesocosms as a function of light, food, and temperature stratification. Marine Biology 124: 679-692.

Garland, E.D., C.A. Zimmer & S.J. Lentz, 2002. Larval distribution in inner-shelf waters: The roles of wind-driven cross-shelf currents and diel vertical migrations. Limnology and Oceanography 47: 803-817.

Garrison, L.P., 1999. Vertical migration behavior and larval transport in brachyuran crabs. Marine Ecology Progress Series 176: 103-113.

Giangrande, A., S. Geraci & G. Belmonte, 1994. Life-cycle and life-history diversity in marine invertebrates and the implications in community dynamics. Oceanography and Marine Biology: an Annual Review 32: 305-333.

Gotelli, N.J., 1987. Spatial and temporal patterns of reproduction, larval settlement, and recruitment of the compound ascidian *Aplidium stellatum*. Marine Biology 94: 54-51.

Hays, G.C., 2003. A review of the adaptive significance and ecosystem consequences of zooplankton diel vertical migrations. Hydrobiologia 503: 163-170.

Jablonski, D. & R.A. Lutz, 1983. Larval ecology of marine benthic invertebrates: paleobiological implications. Biological Reviews 55: 21-89.

Johnson, W.S. & D.M. Allen, 2012. Zooplankton of the Atlantic and Gulf Coasts: A Guide to Their Identification and Ecology (2nd Edition). Baltimore, Maryland: The Johns Hopkins University Press.

Knights, A.M., T.P. Crowe & G. Burnell, 2006. Mechanisms of larval transport: Vertical distribution of bivalve larvae varies with tidal conditions. Marine Ecology Progress Series 326: 167-174.

Lloyd, M.J., A. Metaxas & B. deYoung, 2012a. Patterns in vertical distribution and their potential effects on transport of larval benthic invertebrates in a shallow embayment. Marine Ecology Progress Series 469: 37-52.

Lloyd, M.J., A. Metaxas & B. DeYoung, 2012b. Physical and biological factors affect the vertical distribution of larvae of benthic gastropods in a shallow embayment. Marine Ecology Progress Series 464: 135-151.

Marshall, D.J., 2002. *In situ* measures of spawning synchrony and fertilization success in an intertidal, free-spawning invertebrate. Marine Ecology Progress Series 236: 113-119.

McQuaid, C.D. & T.E. Phillips, 2000. Limited wind-driven dispersal of intertidal mussel larvae: *in situ* evidence from plankton and the spread of the invasive species *Mytilus galloprovincialis* in South Africa. Marine Ecology Progress Series 201: 211-220.

Morgan, S.G., 1987. Adaptive significance of hatching rhythms and dispersal patterns of estuarine crab larvae: avoidance of physiological stress by larval export? Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 113: 71-78.

Morgan, S.G. & J.H. Christy, 1995. Adaptive significance of the Timing of Release of Larvae by Crabs. The American Naturalist 145: 457- 479.

NOAA National Estuarine Research Reserve System (NERRS). System-wide Monitoring Program. Data accessed from the NOAA NERRS Centralized Data Management Office website: <u>http://cdmo.baruch.sc.edu/</u> (accessed 03 October 2018).

Ouellet, P. & J. Allard, 2006. Vertical distribution and behavior of shrimp *Pandalus borealis* larval stages in thermally stratified water columns: Laboratory experiment and field observations. Fisheries Oceanography 15: 373-389.

Pechenik, J.A., 1999. On the advantages and disadvantages of larval stages in benthic marine invertebrate life cycles. Marine Ecology Progress Series 177: 269-297.

Pineda, J., 2000. Linking larval settlement to larval transport: Assumptions, potentials, and pitfalls. Oceanography of the Eastern Pacific 1: 84-105.

Queiroga, H., J.D. Costlow & M.H. Moreira, 1997. Vertical migration of the crab *Carcinus maenas* first zoea in an estuary: Implications for tidal stream transport. Marine Ecology Progress Series 149: 121-132.

Raby, D., Y. Lagudeuc, J.J. Dodson & M. Mingelbier, 1994. Relationship between feeding and vertical distribution of bivalve larvae in stratified and mixed waters. Marine Ecology Progress Series 103: 275-284.

Stancyk, S.E. & R.J. Feller, 1986. Transport of non-decapod invertebrate larvae in estuaries: An overview. Bulletin of Marine Science 39: 257-268.

Tapia, F.J., D. Claudio, J. Jarrett & J. Pineda, 2010. Vertical distribution of barnacle larvae at a fixed nearshore station in southern California: State-specific and diel patterns. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 86: 265-270.

Thiébaut, E., J. Dauvin & Y. Lagadeuc, 1992. Transport of *Owenia fusiformis* larvae (Annelida: Polychaeta) in the Bay of Seine. I. Vertical distribution in relation to water column stratification and ontogenic vertical migration. Marine Ecology Progress Series 80: 29-39.

Trembley, M.J. & M. Sinclair, 1990. Sea scallop larvae *Placopecten magellanicus* on Georges Bank: vertical distribution in relation to water column stratification and food. Marine Ecology Progress Series 61: 1-15.

Todd, C.D., M.S. Laverack & G.A Boxshall, 1996. Coastal Marine Zooplankton: A Practical Manual for Students (2nd Edition). Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.

Vázquez, E., J. Ameneiro, S. Putzeys, C. Gordo & P. Sangrá, 2007. Distribution of meroplankton communities in the Bransfield Strait, Antarctica. Marine Ecology Progress Series 338: 119-129.

Whalan, S., P. Ettinger-Epstein, C. Battershill & R. de Nys, 2008. Larval vertical migration and hierarchical selectivity of settlement in a brooding marine sponge. Marine Ecology Progress Series 386: 145-154.

Walker, G., 2004. Swimming speeds of the larval stages of the parasitic barnacle, *Heterosaccus lunatus* (Crustacea: Cirripedia: Rhizocephala). Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 84: 737-742.

Walkusz, W., W.J. Williams & S. Kwasniewski, 2013. Vertical distribution of mesozooplankton in the coastal Canadian Beaufort Sea in summer. Journal of Marine Systems 127: 26-35.

Yamaguchi M., 1975. Growth and reproductive cycles of the marine fouling ascidians *Ciona intestinalis*, *Styela plicata*, *Botrylloides violaceus*, and *Leptoclinum mitsukurii* at Aburatsubo-Moroiso Inlet (Central Japan). Marine Biology 29: 253-259.

CHAPTER 2

NATIVE AND NON-NATIVE BIVALVE SETTLEMENT: POTENTIAL COMPETITION FOR SPATIAL RESOURCES IN A NORTHEAST FLORIDA ESTUARY

Introduction

Successful invasion of a species involves a number of stages, including initial introduction, survival and establishment in the new habitat, and range expansion (Andow et al., 1990). With the increase of trans-oceanic vessel traffic (Pimentel et al., 2005; Tan & Morton, 2006) and the warming of our oceans (e.g. Stachowicz et al., 2002), we see an increase in the introduction of marine invertebrates, especially tropical and sub-tropical species (Hilbish et al., 2010). Introduced species usually have a high tolerance for pollution and have the ability to reproduce quickly (Tan, 2006). Typically, these organisms include a larval stage capable of significant dispersal which provides the invading population the ability to increase its range rapidly, although rapid expansion may result in reduced reproductive output due to low population density (Allee effect) (Gascoigne & Lipcius, 2004; Leung et al., 2004; Tobin et al., 2011). Propagule pressure describes a measure of the number of individuals released into an area to which they are not native (Carlton, 1996) and is an important factor that may influence the success of an invasion (e.g. Johnston et al., 2009). Propagules, including larvae, may be released into an area but may not survive prior to settlement or may show low survival to reproductive age post-settlement (Johnston et al., 2009). Larval survival and subsequent settlement can be affected by both biotic (e.g. food or predators) and abiotic (e.g. diurnal cycles, turbulence, gravity, density, salinity, and temperature) influences (e.g. Stancyk & Feller, 1986; Raby et al., 1994; Dobretsov & Miron, 2001; Hays, 2003; Knights et al., 2006; Breckenridge & Bollens, 2011).

Bivalves are adept invaders with introductions documented worldwide that date back to the Middle Ages (e.g. Agard et al., 1992; Boudreaux & Walters, 2006; Tan & Morton, 2006; Karatayev et a., 2007; Spinuzzi et al., 2013; Herbert et al., 2016). Once a non-native species has

become established the potential of negative interactions with native species is likely to increase. Non-native bivalves have had detrimental effects on native communities in several instances such as the *Potamocorbula amurensis* in San Francisco Bay (e.g. Carlton et al., 1990; Nichols et al., 1990), *Dreissena polymorpha* in the Great Lakes (e.g. Burlakova et al., 2000), and *Crassostrea gigis* in the Oosterschelde estuary (e.g. Troost et al., 2009). Understanding the behavior of late stage larvae of native and non-native species of bivalves within the same ecosystem can allow us to better predict where non-native species might appear, and may also help us in understanding how these species might interact and potentially compete.

The Guana Tolomato Matanzas National Estuarine Research Reserve in Northeast Florida is home to several species of bivalves. The Eastern oyster, *Crassostrea virginica*, and the ribbed mussel, Geukensia demissa, are native bivalves while the Asian green mussel, Perna viridis, and the Charru mussel, Mytella charruana, are non-native species. The Asian green mussel, Perna viridis, is native to the coastal marine waters of the Indo-Pacific region, primarily distributed along the Indian and Southeast Asian coasts (Rajagopal et al., 2006) and was first discovered in Southeastern United States in 1999 (e.g. Benson et al., 2001; Buddo et al., 2003; Baker et al., 2007). Mytella charruana (charru mussel) is native to South America and Mexican Gulf Coast and was first discovered in Northeast Florida in 1989 (Boudreaux & Walters, 2006). Previous studies have revealed some of the negative effects that introduced bivalves in Northeast Florida may have on native oyster populations. Adults of both P. viridis and M. charruana have been shown to negatively influence C. virginica settlement and survival. Perna viridis adults can reduce C. virginica larval settlement; M. charruana can reduce spat growth; and both non-native species negatively affect the survival of juvenile oyster spat (Yuan et al., 2016b). Galimany et al. (2017) also discovered the non-native *M. charruana* is able to outcompete *C. virginica* due to its

ability to more rapidly intake and digest food sources. These studies, however, were conducted in the laboratory, so their relevance to natural systems is currently unknown. Much of their relevance depends on the degree to which these species overlap spatially and temporally in habitat use.

Competition among sessile invertebrates can take multiple forms, including preferences for similar habitat and substrate, as well as the relative timing at which settlement occurs. With each species in the current study occurring in subtropical to tropical climates, temperature and salinity tolerances are similar for each species (e.g. Bertness & Grosholz, 1985; Ortega & Sutherland, 1992; Bartol & Mann, 1997; Franz 2001; Spares & Dadswell, 2001; Wilson et al., 2005; Boudreaux & Walters, 2006; Rajagopal et al., 2006; Jost & Helmuth, 2007; Yuan et al., 2016a). Similarly, both non-native species have been found to preferentially settle on natural hard substrate including native oyster shells, instead of man-made hard substrates (Gilg et al., 2010). Since oyster spat were not investigated in Gilg et al. (2010), it is unknown to what degree the preferences of non-native species overlaps with those of the native species. Other studies have shown that C. virginica larvae preferentially settles on oyster shell (e.g. Nestlerode et al., 2007; George et al., 2014; Yuan et al., 2016b) though, settlement on other hard substrate such as concrete, porcelain, lime stone, and river rock has been observed (George et al., 2014). In fact, all of these species have been observed inhabiting the same intertidal oyster reef on the north end of the in the Indian River Lagoon in Florida (Yuan et al., 2016b, Walters pers. obs.). Peak settlement also occurs around the same time of year (summer to early fall) for each of these species, although some are known to have both major, and minor peaks of settlement (e.g. Báez, et al., 2005; Wilson et al., 2005; Gilg et al., 2014; Vallejo et al., 2017). Therefore, competent larvae of the bivalve species in the current study seem likely to be competing for similar

settlement substrate, in similar locations, at the same time. Another form of spatial competition that has not been tested, however, is preferential settlement depth, which has the potential to provide some spatial refuge.

Previous work at sites within their native range suggests that *P. viridis* preferentially settles at intermediate depths (4 m) as opposed to either shallow or deep depths (1m or 7m, respectively) (Rajagopal, 1998b). Late stage oyster larvae are found in higher densities near the benthos and late stage ribbed mussel larvae are found closer to the water surface (Baker & Mann, 2003). The depth preference of *M. charruana* settlement is undocumented.

A better understanding of the processes that govern settlement for these bivalve species will help us understand how introduced species might affect recruitment of native species. Can depth and habitat differences in settlement provide native bivalve species spatial refuge? Settlement plates were deployed at various depths within two different habitats during a time of peak settlement in a Northeast Florida estuary to determine (1) if spat abundance for each species differed among depths (top, mid, bottom of the water column), and (2) if spat abundance for each species differed among habitats (feeder creek, main channel).

Materials and Methods

Study sites

Settlement collection was conducted once a month from May to September 2013 and June to August 2014 at two locations within the main channel of the Atlantic Intracoastal Waterway (ICW) and within two creeks that feed into the ICW (Fig. 2.1). The timing of the collection periods coincided with what is typically peak settlement periods for all of these species (Báez, et al., 2005; Wilson et al., 2005; Gilg et al., 2014; Vallejo et al., 2017). Each feeder creek site was sampled in concurrence with a site located in the main channel of the ICW. This sampling scheme provided two locations in close spatial proximity that differed markedly in habitat. Therefore, differences between the two sites are likely due to environmental differences as opposed to distance from source populations. The first feeder creek site (OC) was located near Oyster Creek, upstream the San Sebastian River. Collection at OC was located at green Daybeacon "35" (29° 53.267'N; 81° 19.210'W) where the mean depth is approximately 2.0 m (NERRS, 2018). The main channel site sampled along with OC was the sampling location designated SS, located where the San Sebastian River empties into the ICW. Sampling at SS took place at the green Daybeacon "1" (29° 52.131'N; 81° 18.446'W) which has a mean tidal range of 1.3 m and a mean depth of approximately 3.9 m (NERRS, 2018).

The second feeder creek site (PC) was located in Pellicer Creek off the end of a recreational boat dock within Faver-Dykes State Park (29° 40.024'N; 81° 15.444'W). This site had a mean depth of approximately 2.3 m with a mean tidal range of about 0.6 m (NERRS, 2018). The main channel site associated with PC was located at the red Daybeacon "118" (29° 37.560'N; 81° 12.578'W) and was designated as BL since it is just north of the Bings Landing public boat ramp. BL has a mean tidal range of 0.5 m and a mean depth of 3.8 m (NERRS, 2018). Dix et al. (2013) found the site SS to be well-mixed, and it is assumed that all other sites within this study are also well-mixed.

The vertical distribution of bivalve settlement was evaluated by placing spat collectors made of two 12 cm x 12 cm quarry tiles along a 3.1 m-long PVC pipe using plastic cable ties (Fig. 2.2). These settlement collectors were attached to the pilings of the day beacons or other posts at the study sites using steel hose clamps. Due to their shallower maximum depths, the feeder creek sites, OC and PC, had only two tile placements. The top tile was placed such that half of it would typically be exposed during spring low tides (spring low tide on the piling was

determined by the marking of fouling organisms) and the bottom tile was approximately 1.5 m below it. This positioned the bottom tile <1m from the bottom of the creek. The greater depths of main channel sites (SS and BL) allowed for three tile placements. The top collection plate was positioned \sim 0.6 m from the top of the PVC pipe and again placed so that half of it would be exposed during spring low tides. The bottom collection plate was placed just above the bottom of the PVC pipe and the middle plate was positioned at the mid-point between the top and bottom plates. This resulted in each plate being separated by \sim 1.2 m and the bottom plate rested approximately 1 m above the sediment.

Each of the 4 sites contained 1 spat collector which remained in the field for 1-month time periods after which they were retrieved, the quarry tiles removed and replaced with new tiles, and then the collector was returned to the water. Collected tiles were allowed to dry for approximately 2 weeks in a covered outdoor location with protection from rain. Bivalve spat were identified by using morphological characteristics and enumerated under a stereoscope. All the plates located at the Bing's Landing site during July 2013, and San Sebastian during September 2013 were lost when the equipment was torn from the piling, but data are available from all other locations and sampling periods.

Environmental variables were also collected at each site to verify the estuary was wellmixed during the time of sampling, and if not, to test whether settlement depth was associated with temperature, salinity, and fluorescence. We tested temperature, salinity, and fluorescence, by collecting water samples at three different depths using a horizontal Alpha Water Sampler. Temperature and salinity were measured on-site using a YSI Pro 2030 water quality probe, while water samples were stored on ice and transported to the laboratory to test fluorescence using a Turner TD 700 Fluorometer.

Statistical analysis

Since settlement densities were not normally distributed non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test was utilized to compare settlement abundance among depths (high, middle, and low) and habitats (feeder creek and main channel). Since environmental variables were found to not differ significantly among depths in this shallow, well-mixed system, analyses of environmental differences were restricted to comparisons among habitats utilizing a Kruskall-Wallis H test. Dates at which no settlement was detected for a given species were removed from analysis. The significance level for all statistical tests used was $\alpha = 0.05$ and all tests were performed using SPSS 25.0.

Results

All four of the species of interest settled on collectors over the course of the study, although *M. charruana* was only found in 2014. Oyster spat made up 75.35% of the total bivalves collected with a mean spat density 4.16X greater than that of the second most abundant species, *P. viridis. Mytella charruana* had the least amount of spat, making up 0.96% of the total bivalves collected throughout the entire study and only occurred in the main channel (Fig. 2.3). Most species showed fairly similar temporal settlement patterns with the greatest number of spat found in the later months of collection. Spat numbers during 2013 were lower by an order of magnitude compared to 2014 (121 total spat in 2013, 1,240 spat in 2014). In 2013, each species had low spat abundance in July, with peak abundance for all species in August and slightly decreased in September (Fig. 2.3). In 2014 *C. virginica* were abundant in all three months but peaked in July, while *P. viridis* were nearly absent in June then increased and remained steady in July and August (Fig. 2.3). Since settlement of the *M. charruana* was so rare, this species was removed from all analyses.

To determine differences among sites in each habitat (Main channel: BL and SS; Feeder creek: PC and OC), we pooled spat abundance across depths and collection dates, and compared spat density (mean number of spat per plate) at one site to spat density at the corresponding site within each habitat. Since *M. charruana* was never collected in the feeder creeks, and *G. demissa* was only collected at PC, these species were not included in the statistical analysis. Although *P. viridis* was found more in PC, and *C. virginica* spat was more abundant in OC, these differences were not significant (Kruskall-Wallis H Test results: U = 11.00, P = 0.461; U = 21.00, P = 0.180, respectively) (Table 2.2). There were no significant differences between spat abundance for any species between the main channel sites, BL and SS (Table 2.2).

To test for potential differences in spat abundance between habitats, we pooled spat across depths and collection dates, and compared settlement abundance in the main channel with the settlement density in the feeder creek independently for each species. *Perna viridis* was the only species that showed a significant difference in spat abundance with the highest spat density found on the collectors placed in the main channel (U = 103.00, P = 0.042) (Table 2.3).

SS and OC + PC) which increased sample sizes substantially and made the comparisons among depths more powerful. In the feeder creeks, both *P. viridis* and *C. virginica* settled significantly more on the bottom plates than at the top, while *G. demissa* settlement did not differ among depths (Figure 2.4) (Mann-Whitney U tests: *P. viridis* top vs. bottom: U = 3.00, P = 0.015; *C. virginica* top vs. bottom: U = 17.50, P = 0.040; *G. demissa* top vs bottom: U = 0.00, P = 0.333). A similar pattern was observed in the main channel, with *P. viridis*, *C. virginica*, and *G. demissa* all having significantly lower settlement at the top collection plates than either the mid or bottom plates, while settlement at the mid and bottom plates did not differ from each other (Table 2.2) (Mann-Whitney U tests: top vs. mid: *P. viridis*: U = 19.50, P = 0.035, *C. virginica*: U = 14.50, P = 0.036, *G. demissa*: U = 7.50, P = 0.029; top vs bottom: *P. viridis*: U = 11.00, P = 0.004, *C. virginica*: U = 10.00, P = 0.011, *G. demissa*: U = 4.50, P = 0.008; mid vs bottom: *P. viridis*: U = 38.50, P = 0.393, *C. virginica*: U = 35.50, P = 0.666, *G. demissa*: U = 24.00, P = 0.422.) Although we did not perform statistical analysis on the depth distribution of *M. charruana*, it was most abundant at the mid depth plate, and was absent from the top plates.

To test if the differences in spat abundance between main channel and feeder creek sites could be explained by differences in environmental parameters, we compared temperature, salinity, and fluorescence among habitats. Feeder creeks showed lower than average salinity (H = 14.246, P < 0.001) and greater fluorescence (H = 13.311, P < 0.001) than the main channel sites while temperature did not differ significantly (H = 1.519, P = 0.218) (Fig. 2.5). Salinity and fluorescence in the feeder creeks fluctuated much more dramatically than in the main channel site, while temperature remained relatively steady in both habitats (Fig. 2.5).

Discussion

The current study investigated the potential for interspecific competition by determining: (1) if spat abundance for each species differ among depths (top, mid, bottom), and (2) if spat abundance for each species differ among habitats (feeder creek, main channel). All of the species showed similar settlement patterns, except for *M. charruana* for which the data are too limited to make any conclusive statements. *Perna viridis* and *C. virginica* preferentially settled at the mid to low depths rather than at the top settlement plates in both habitats, while *G. demissa* displayed this pattern in the main channel habitat but not in feeder creeks. All species were found in the main channel, but only *P. viridis* and *C. virginica* were collected in both feeder creek sites. Since *C. virginica* and *P. viridis* had the highest spat abundance throughout our study and both species exhibit the same settlement patterns associated with depth and habitat, spatial competition may be greatest between these two species. Competition would likely be highest in the main channel due to both nonnative species occurring in that habitat in higher numbers than the feeder creeks.

Our data show that *P. viridis, C. virginica,* and *G. demissa* preferentially settle subtidally since they all had a higher spat abundance on the mid and bottom collection plates which were always submerged, in contrast to the top collection plates which would be exposed on spring low tides. Subtidal settlement is an established pattern for both *P. viridis* and *C. virginica*. Rajagopal et al. (1998a) conducted a study within the native range of the Asian green mussel and found settlement most abundant at 4 m, and least abundant at the study's lowest depth of 7 m. The present study also showed the majority of settlement at ~3 m, but samples were not collected deeper than 3 m so it cannot be determined whether settlement would decrease at greater depths as in Rajagopal et al. (1998a). Subtidal settlement for *C. virginica* has also been a well-established pattern in the Eastern United States. Competent larvae are more abundant near the

benthos, and least abundant near the surface (Baker & Mann, 2003), and settlement generally follows the same pattern (Ortega & Sutherland, 1992; Bartol & Mann, 1997). Growth rates tend to be much higher in subtidal habitats than in the periodically submerged intertidal habitats (e.g. Sumner, 1981; Crosby et al., 1991), but higher predation rates have also been observed (e.g. Roegner & Mann, 1995). Therefore, preferential settlement in subtidal habitats such as was observed here, suggests that both *P. viridis* and *C. virginica* likely occupy areas that lack predators in their native ranges. If this is indeed the case, then the subtidal settlement behavior of *P. viridis* is unlikely to be deleterious in the Southeastern U.S. where it will tend to face the same predators as *C. virginica*.

Nielsen & Franz (1995) suggest a latitudinal difference in distribution patterns of *G*. *demissa* since with more settlement in the high intertidal zone for their Southern populations (e.g. Georgia and Alabama) (West & Williams, 1986; Lin, 1989). The conflicting results of vertical settlement of the ribbed mussel may be a result of post-settlement habitat selection where the mussel uses its byssal threads to continue searching for suitable habitat after initial settlement. Therefore, the differences in recruitment at certain depths is less important for the soft-bottom dwelling ribbed mussel because there is usually no limitation of space, and the aforementioned post-settlement movement allows them to be commitment free (Peterson, 1991). Since *G. demissa* has the ability to relocate, the spat abundance in our study may be an underestimate of the actual juvenile abundance at the study sites.

Perna viridis was the only species to display significantly greater settlement in the main channel of the ICW rather than its feeder creeks. This pattern is consistent with previous research on settlement in the same estuary (Gilg et al., 2014). In the feeder creeks, *C. virginica* had over 30x more settlers than *P. viridis*. The disparity between *P. viridis* and *C. virginica* suggests that either oyster larvae are more adept in traveling into the feeder creeks, or oysters are better equipped to survive in the feeder creeks. Generally, it may also be more difficult for bivalve larvae to be transported into the feeder creeks from the parental source in the main channel due to being well flushed by tides through the nearby inlets and having flushing times of less than 2 days (Sheng et al., 2008). Since the feeder creeks become nearly fresh with salinities as low as 0.5 PSU (NERRS, 2018) at times, oyster salinity tolerance is the most likely explanation for exceptionally higher oyster spat abundance within the feeder creeks. Wilson et al. (2005) witnessed oysters surviving salinities <10 ppt while green mussels can survive salinities as low as 20 ppt (Rajagopal et al., 2006). Yuan et al. (2016b) also determined that P. viridis has a narrower range of temperature tolerances as salinity decreased, suggesting less survival in the low-salinity feeder creeks during the winter months. The disparity of settlement between these two species in the feeder creeks suggests this habitat could act as a refuge for oysters. Baker et al. (2011) also observed a potential refuge for oysters in the low-energy habitats such as mangrove prop roots. The low flow of the feeder creeks may also play a key role in providing refuge for C. virginica.

The lack of *M. charruana* in the collections could be due to lack of attraction to the settlement plates, low overall abundance of Charru mussels in the area, or because the settlement collectors were not placed in the right type of habitat. *Mytella charruana* may not have been attracted to the settlement plates since the mussel has been found to preferentially settle on natural substrate such as oyster and mussel shells rather than man-made substrate such as plexiglass, wood, and rock, including quarry tiles and brick (Gilg et al., 2010). Overall low abundance of *M. charruana* at the collection sites is a possible reason for the few spat found during this study since *M. charruana* was only found once at a location near the collection sites

during a 5-year survey (2006-2011) (Spinuzzi et al., 2013). The Charru mussel also has a low tolerance for cold weather events (Yuan et al., 2016a). For example, Spinuzzi et al. (2013) discovered a Northeast Florida population of *M. charruana* that experienced high mortality after an unusually cold winter in 2009 and by June 2010 when air temperatures fallen to 0°C or below and the population had not recovered. In the winter of 2012/2013, air temperatures in St. Augustine, Florida had dropped to or below 2°C for a few days throughout the winter (23 December, 17-18 February, 4 March; NOAA NWS). The winter of 2013/2014 was also fairly cold with air temperatures that dropped lower than 2012/2013 but only for two days (-3°C on 7 January; 0.56°C on 17 January; NOAA NWS). Therefore, in addition to using undesirable settlement substrate, the freezing temperatures in the winters leading up to spat collections could be responsible for the low abundance of *M. charruana* spat throughout our study. While *M.* charruana has been shown to occupy the same functional niche as C. virginica (Galimany et al., 2017), it appears less likely to be a significant competitor in Northeastern Florida due to its low numbers. If temperatures continue to drop to near freezing during the winters, it may be sufficient to keep *M. charruana* from becoming abundant enough to compete with *C. virginica*.

Since three of the species had higher subtidal settlement in the main channel, spatial overlap is likely to occur. In fact, *P. viridis* has been previously found to settle in greater numbers on disarticulated oyster and green mussel shell than man-made substrates (Gilg et al., 2010). Though oysters also preferentially settle on disarticulated oyster shell (e.g. Nestlerode et al., 2007; George et al., 2014), they have been observed settling less on live native and nonnative mussels (relative to settlement on oyster shell) (Yuan et al., 2016b). All species existing in such close proximity can significantly reduce survival and growth of oyster spat due to nonnative mussels decreasing the availability of settlement and food resources (Yuan et al., 2016b).

Nonnative bivalves can also negatively affect oyster larval settlement potentially due to predation of larvae (Yuan et al., 2016b).

Our data show a substantially higher number of C. virginica spat than P. viridis spat throughout the study which may be due to different settlement substrate preferences, peak spawning for green mussels took place before or after our collection dates, or higher abundance of oyster larvae than green mussel larvae. Gilg et al. (2010) discovered that P. viridis preferentially settles on natural hard substrate including native oyster shell and nonnative mussel shell. Previous studies have found that C. virginica larvae preferentially settles on oyster shell (e.g. Nestlerode et al., 2007; George et al., 2014; Yuan et al., 2016b), but settlement on manmade hard substrate has also been observed (George et al., 2014). Since both bivalves preferentially settle on calcium carbonate (e.g. oyster shells, travertine tiles, limestone; Nestlerode et al., 2007; George et al., 2014; Metz et al., 2015; Yuan et al., 2016b), the differences in spat abundance between oysters and green mussels in the current study are unlikely caused by settlement preferences. While settlement occurs between summer to early fall for both species (e.g. Dame, 1972; Wilson et al., 2005; Gilg et al., 2014), peak settlement for P. viridis and C. virginica may occur at different times. Crassostrea virginica in the Indian River Lagoon settle between March and September (Wilson et al., 2005), while P. viridis has been suggested to spawn twice per year in Tampa Bay, Florida with the first in April and the second in September (Barber et al., 2005) suggesting settlement would occur in around May and October since larvae have a 2-week life span (Rajagopal et al., 1998b). Since the current study took place between May - September in 2013 and June - August 2014, P. viridis spat were not collected during their potential second spawning event. Although, missing the Fall settlement peak may not be important in regards to the number of spat collected since Rajagopal et al. (2006)

discovered a substantially higher number of larvae during the summer months versus the fall spawning event in their native range. Therefore, it is likely that the largest peak of settlement was not missed during the collection period of the current study. Previous surveys conducted on intertidal populations by researchers in the estuary found the greatest abundance of *P. viridis* adults near two inlets in the estuary with few adults further from the inlets (see Gilg et al., 2014). Due to the preference for subtidal settlement shown in the current study and others (e.g. Rajagopal et al., 1998a), the current intertidal population may be an underestimate of the actual population currently inhabiting the GTM Estuary. Although total population may be greater than observed for intertidal communities, this study still collected fewer *P. viridis* spat than *C. virginica* spat indicating that oysters are likely more abundant throughout the estuary than the green mussel.

Currently, due to the low spat abundance of *M. charruana* and *P. viridis* compared to *C. virginica*, it is unlikely the nonnative mussels will become a threat to the native oyster populations unless ecological and environmental factors remain optimal for these species (i.e. no unusually cold weather). Since climate scientists suggest that over the next few decades the average air temperatures could increase to 1.1 to 5.4° C higher than it is today (US National Centers for Environmental Information), conditions are likely to become more tolerable for these nonnative bivalves. If conditions were to remain optimal long enough, these nonnative species have the ability to devastate native oyster populations due to their tendency for fast growth and high densities. For instance, *P. viridis* has a tendency for faster growth in areas with high flow (Rajagopal et al., 1998a) and has been observed in densities as high as 12,000 individuals/m² in Florida (Baker et al., 2002). *Mytella charruana* has been observed amassing in densities as high as 11,000 individuals/m² (Pereira et al., 2003). These large aggregations could pose a threat by

displacing native oyster populations. In fact, *P. viridis* has already displayed its ability to dominate certain habitats in Tampa Bay (Baker et al., 2011).

While ovsters are currently the dominant bivalve in the GTM Estuary, oyster reefs have been declining along the Atlantic and Gulf coasts (e.g. Coen et al., 2007). Oyster reefs provide many ecosystem services including increased native biodiversity (e.g. Grabowski et al., 2012). Invasion biology theory claims a positive relationship between native biodiversity and invasion resistance (Elton, 1958). If biodiversity were to decrease with the loss of oyster reefs, P. viridis and other non-native species could more easily invade estuaries with declining oyster populations. While cold temperatures currently limit *P. viridis* and *M. charruana* populations (Urian et al., 2010; Spinuzzi et al., 2013), global warming may allow these invasive mussels to not only persist and spread in the current study system, but to further expand their range throughout the Southeastern U.S. As increasing temperatures would only increase the potential for competition, spatial refuge could prevent the decline of C. virginica. Native species may not find refuge in their settlement depth preference since each species was found to settle subtidally. Though, with *M. charruana* spat absent and *P. viridis* spat abundance substantially lower than *C.* virginica in the feeder creek habitat, C. virginica may find spatial refuge from non-native competitors in the highly fluctuating, low salinity of feeder creeks.

References

Agard, J., R. Kishore & B. Bayne, 1992. *Perna viridis* (Linnaeus, 1758): first record of the Indo-Pacific green mussel (Mollusca: Bivalvia) in the Caribbean. Caribbean Marine Studies 3:59-60.

Andow, D.A., P.M. Kareiva, S.A. Levin & A. Okubo, 1990. Spread of invading organisms. Landscape Ecology 4:177-188.

Báez, M., Y. García de Severeyn & H. Severeyn, 2005. Reproductive cycle of *Geukensia demissa* (Bivalvia: Mytilidae) on a beach at Nazaret, El Moján, Zulia State, Venezuela. Ciencias Marinas 31:111-118.

Baker, S.M., P. Baker, A. Benson, J. Nunez, E. Phlips & J. Williams, 2002. Biopollution by the green mussel, *Perna viridis*, in the southeastern United States. 2002 Progress Report. EPA Grant Number: R828898.

Baker, P. & R. Mann, 2003. Late stage bivalve larvae in a well-mixed estuary are not inert particles. Estuaries 26:837-845.

Baker, P., J.S. Fajans, W.S. Arnold, D.A. Ingrao, D.C. Marelli & S.M. Baker, 2007. Range and dispersal of a tropical marine invader, the Asian Green Musscel, *Perna viridis*, in subtropical waters of the Southeastern United States. Journal of Shellfish Research 26:345-355.

Baker, P., J.S. Fajans & S.M. Baker, 2011. Habitat dominance of a nonindigenous tropical bivalve, *Perna viridis* (Linnaeus, 1958), in a subtropical estuary in the Gulf of Mexico. Journal of Molluscan Studies 78:28-33.

Barber, B.J., J.S. Fajans, S.M., Baker & P. Baker, 2005. Gametogenesis in the non-native green mussel, *Perna viridis*, and the native scorched mussel, *Brachiodontes exustus* in Tampa Bay, Florida. Journal of Shellfish Research 20:21-29.

Bartol, I.K & R. Mann, 1997. Small-scale settlement patterns of the oyster *Crassostrea virginica* on a constructed intertidal reef. Bulletin of Marine Science 61:881-897.

Benson, A.M, D.C. Marelli, M.R. Frischer, J.M. Danforth & J.D. Williams, 2001. Establishment of the green mussel, *Perna viridis* (Linnaeus 1758) (Mollusca: Mytilidae) on the west coast of Florida. Journal of Shellfish Research 20:21-29.

Bertness, M.D. & E. Grosholz, 1985. Population dynamics of the Ribbed Mussel, *Geukensia demissa*: The costs and benefits of an aggregated distribution. Oecologia 67:192-204.

Breckenridge, J.K. & S.M. Bollens, 2011. Vertical distribution and migration of decapod larvae in relation to light and tides in Willapa Bay, Washington. Estuaries and Coasts 34:1255-1261.

Boudreaux, M.L. & L.J. Walters, 2006. *Mytella charruana* (Bivalvia: Mytilidae): a new, invasive bivalve in Mosquito Lagoon, Florida. The Nautilus 120:34-36.

Buddo, D.S.A., R.D. Steele & E.R. D'Oyen, 2003. Distribution of the invasive Indo-Pacific Green Mussel, *Perna viridis*, in Kingston Harbour, Jamaica. Bulletin of Marine Science 73:433-441.

Carlton, J.T., J.K. Thompson, L.E. Schemel & F.H. Nichols, 1990. Remarkable invasion of San Francisco Bay (California, USA) by the Asian clam *Potamocorbula amurensis*. I. Introduction and dispersal. Marine Ecology Progress Series 66:81-94.

Carlton, J.T., 1996. Biological invasions and cryptogenic species. Ecology 77:1653-1655

Coen, L.D., R.D. Brumbaugh, D. Bushek, R. Grizzle, M.W. Luckenbach, M.H. Posey, S.P. Powers & S.G. Tolley, 2007. Ecosystem services related to oyster restoration. Marine Ecology Progress Series 341:303-307.

Crosby, M.P., C.F. Roberts & P.D. Kenny, 1991. Effects of immersion time and tidal position on in situ growth rates of naturally settled eastern oysters, *Crassostrea virginica* (Gmelm, 1791). Journal of Shellfish Research 10:95-103

Dame R.F., 1972. The ecological energies of growth, respiration, and assimilation in the intertidal American oyster *Crassostrea virginica*. Marine Biology 17:243-250.

Dobretsov, S.V. & G. Miron, 2001. Larval and post-larval vertical distribution of the mussel *Mytilus edulis* in the White Sea. Marine Ecology Progress Series 218:179-187.

Elton, C.S., 1958. The ecology of invasions by animals and plants. Methuen, London.

Franz, D.R., 2001. Recruitment, survivorship, and age structure of a New York Ribbed Mussel population (*Geukensia demissa*) in relation to shore level – a nine-year study. Estuaries 24:319-327.

Galimany, E., C.J. Freeman, J. Lunt, A. Domingos, P. Sacks & L. Walters, 2017. Feeding competition between the native oyster *Crassostrea virginica* and the invasive mussel *Mytella charruana*. Marine Ecology Progress Series 564:57-66.

Gascoigne, J. & R.N. Lipcius, 2004. Allee effects in marine systems. Marine Ecology Progress Series 269:49-59.

Gilg, M.R., E.A. Hoffman, K.S. Schneider, J. Ryabinov, C. El-Khoury & L.J. Walters, 2010. Recruitment preferences of non-native mussels: interaction between marine invasions and landuse changes. Journal of Molluscan Studies 76:333-339.

Gilg, M.R., R. Howard, R. Turner, M. Middlebrook, M. Abdulnour, E. Lukaj, Y.P. Sheng, T. Liu & B. Tutak, 2014. Estimating the dispersal capacity of the introduced green mussel, *Perna viridis* (Linnaeus, 1758), from field collections and oceanographic modeling. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 461:233-242.

Grabowski, J.H., R.D. Brumbaugh, R.F. Conrad, A.G. Keeler, J.J. Opaluch, C.H. Peterson, M.F. Piehler, S.P. Powers & A.R. Smyth, 2012. Economic valuation of ecosystem services provided by oyster reefs. BioScience 62:900-909.

Hays, G.C., 2003. A review of the adaptive significance and ecosystem consequences of zooplankton diel vertical migrations. Hydrobiologia 503:163-170.

Herbert, R.J.H., J. Humphreys, C.J. Davies, C. Roberts, S. Fletcher & T.P. Crowe, 2016. Ecological impacts of non-native Pacific oysters (*Crassostrea gigas*) and management measures for protected areas in Europe. Biodiversity and Conservation 25:2835-2865.

Hilbish, T.J., P.M. Brannock, K.R. Jones, A.B. Smith, B.N. Bullock & D.S. Wethey, 2010. Historical changes in the distributions of invasive and endemic marine invertebrates are contrary to global warming predictions: the effects of decadal climate oscillations. Journal of Biogeography 37:423-431.

Johnston, E.L., R.F. Piola, G.F. Clark, 2009. The role of propagule pressure in invasion success. In: Rilov G, Crooks JA, editors. Biological invasions in marine ecosystems. Berlin-Heidelberg: Springer; p. 133–151

Jost, J. & B. Helmuth, 2007. Morphological and ecological determinants of body temperature of *Geukensia demissa*, the Atlantic Ribbed Mussel, and their effects on mussel mortality. Biological Bulletin 213:141-151.

Karatayev, A.Y., D.K. Padilla, D. Minchin, D. Boltovskoy & L.E. Burlakova, 2007. Changes in global economies and trade: the potential spread of exotic freshwater bivalves. Biological Invasions 9:161-180.

Knights, A.M., T.P. Crowe & G. Burnell, 2006. Mechanisms of larval transport: vertical distribution of bivalve larvae varies with tidal conditions. Marine Ecology Progress Series 326:167-174.

Leung, B., J.M. Drake & D.M. Lodge, 2004. Predicting invasions: Propagule pressure and the gravity of Allee effects. Ecology 85:1651-1660.

Lin, J., 1989. Influence of location in a salt marsh on survivorship of ribbed mussels. Marine Ecology Progress Series 56:105-110

Metz, J.L., E.W. Stoner & D.A. Arrington, 2015. Comparison of substrates for Eastern oyster (*Crassostrea virginica*) spat settlement in the Loxahatchee River Estuary, Florida. Journal of Shellfish Research 34:861-865.

Nestlerode, J., M.W. Luckenbach & F.X. O'Beirn, 2007. Settlement and Survival of the Oyster *Crassostrea virginica* on Created Oyster Reef Habitats in Chesapeake Bay. Restoration Ecology 15:273-283.

Nichols, F.H., J.K. Thompson & L.E. Schemel, 1990. Remarkable invasion of San Francisco Bay (California, USA) by the Asian clam *Potamocorbula amurensis*. 11. Displacement of a former community. Marine Ecology Progress Series 66:95-101.

Nielsen, K.J. & D.R. Franz, 1995. The influence of adult conspecifics and shore level on recruitment of the ribbed mussel *Geukensia demissa* (Dillwyn). Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 188:89-98.

NOAA National Estuarine Research Reserve System (NERRS). System-wide Monitoring Program. Data accessed from the NOAA NERRS Centralized Data Management Office website: <u>http://cdmo.baruch.sc.edu/</u> (accessed 12 October 2012).

NOAA National Weather Service (NWS) Weather Forecast Office, Jacksonville, FL. NOWData – NOAA Online Weather Data. Available at <u>https://w2.weather.gov/climate/xmacis.php?wfo=jax</u> (accessed September 2018).

Ortega, S. & J.P. Sutherland, 1992. Recruitment and growth of the Eastern Oyster, *Crassostrea virginica*, in North Carolina. Estuaries 15:158-170.

Pereria, O.M., R.C. Hilberath, P.R.A.C. Ansarah & M.S.N. Galvao, 2003. Production estimate of *Mytella falcata* and *M. guyanensis* in natural beds of Ilha Comprida Estuary (Sao Paulo, Brazil). Boletim do Instituto de Pesca 29:139-149.

Peterson, A.T., 2001. Predicting species' geographic distributions based on ecological niche modeling. The Condor 103:599-605.

Peterson, C.H., 1991. Intertidal zonation of marine invertebrates in sand and mud. American Scientific 79:236-249.

Pimentel, D., R. Zunga & D. Morrison, 2005. Update on the environmental and economic costs associated with alien invasive species in the United States. Ecological Economics 52:273-288.

Raby, D., Y. Lagadeuc, J.J. Dodson & M. Mingelbier, 1994. Relationship between feeding and vertical distribution of bivalve larvae in stratified and mixed waters. Marine Ecology Progress Series 103:275-284.

Rajagopal, S., V.P. Venugopalan, K.V.K. Nair, G. Van der Velde & H.A. Jenner, 1998a. Settlement and growth of the green mussel *Perna viridis* (L.) in coastal waters: influence of water velocity. Aquatic Ecology 32:313-322.

Rajagopal, S., V.P. Venugopalan, K.V.K Nair, G. van der Velde, H.A. Jenner & C. den Hartog, 1998b. Reproduction, growth rate and culture potential of the green mussel, *Perna viridis* (L.) in Edaiyur backwaters, east coast of India. Aquaculture 162:187-202.

Rajagopal, S., V.P. Venugopalan, G. van der Velde & H.A. Jenner, 2006. Greening of the coasts: a review of the *Perna viridis* success story. Aquatic Ecology 3:273-297.

Roegner, G.C. & R. Mann, 1995. Early recruitment and growth of the American oyster *Crassostrea virginica* (Bivalvia: Ostreidae) with respect to tidal zonation and season. Marine Ecology Progress Series 117:91-101.

Sheng, Y.P., B. Tutak, J.R. Davis, & V. Paramygin, 2008. Circulation and flushing in the lagoonal system of the Guana Tolomato Matanzas National Estuarine Research Reserve (GTMNERR), Florida. Journal of Coastal Research 55:9-25.

Spares, A.D. & M.J. Dadswell, 2001. Goat Lake, a warm water, estuarine refugia for molluscs on the South shore of Nova Scotia. Proceedings of the Nova Scotian Institute of Science 41:134-148.

Spinuzzi, S., K.R. Schneider, L.J. Walters, W.S. Yuan, & E.A. Hoffman, 2013. Tracking the distribution of non-native marine invertebrates (*Mytella charruana, Perna viridis,* and *Megabalanus coccopoma*) along the south-eastern USA. Marine Biodiversity Records 6:1-13.

Stachowicz, J.J., J.R. Terwin, R.B. Whitlatch & R.W. Osman, 2002. Linking climate change and biological invasions: ocean warming facilitates nonindigenous species invasions. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 99:15497–15500.

Stancyk, S.E. & R.J. Feller, 1986. Transport of non-decapod invertebrate larvae in estuaries: An overview. Bulletin of Marine Science 39:257-268.

Sumner, C.E., 1981. Growth of Pacific oysters, *Crassostrea gigas* Thunberg, cultivated in Tasmania. II. Subtidal culture. Australian Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 32:411-416.

Tan, K.S. & B. Morton, 2006. The invasive Caribbean bivalve *Mytilopsis sallei* (Dreissenidae) introduced to Singapore and Johor Bahru, Malaysia. The Raffles Bulletin of Zoology 54:429-434.

Tobin, P.C., L. Berec, & A.M. Liebhold, 2011. Exploiting Allee effects for managing biological invasions. Ecology Letters 14:615-624.

Troost, K., E.J. Stamhuis, L.A. van Duren & W.J. Wolff, 2009. Feeding current characteristics of three morphologically different bivalve suspension feeders, *Crassostrea gigas*, *Mytilus edulis* and *Cerastoderma edule*, in relation to food competition. Marine Biology 156:355-372.

Urian, A.G., J.D. Hatle & M.R. Gilg, 2010. Thermal constraints for range expansion of the invasive green mussel, *Perna viridis*, in the Southeastern United States. Journal of Experimental Zoology 313A:1-10.

Valleja Jr., B., J. Conejar-Espedido, L. Manubag, K.C.C. Artiaga, A.M. Damatac II, I.C.V.J. Imperial, T.A.B. Itong, I.K. Fontanilla & E.P. Cao, 2017. First record of the Charru mussel *Mytella charruana* d'Orbignyi, 1846 (Bivalvia: Mytilidae) from Manila Bay, Luzon, Philippines. BioInvasions Records 6:49-55.

West, D.L. & A.H. Williams, 1986. Predation by *Callinectes sapidus* (Rathburn) within *Spartina alterniflora* (Loisel) marshes. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 100:75-95.

Wilson, C., L. Scotto, J. Scarpa, A. Volety, S. Laramore, & D. Haunert, 2005. Survey of water quality, oyster reproduction and oyster health status in the St. Lucie Estuary. Journal of Shellfish Research 24:157-165.

Yuan, W.E., L.J. Walters, S.A. Brodsky, K.R. Schneider, & E.A. Hoffman, 2016a. Synergistic effects of salinity and temperature on the survival of two nonnative bivalve molluscs, *Perna viridis* (Linnaeus 1758) and *Mytella charruana* (d'Orbigny 1846). Journal of Marine Biology 2016:1-14.

Yuan, W.S., E.A. Hoffman, & L.J. Walters, 2016b. Effects of nonnative invertebrates on two life stages of the native eastern oyster *Crassostrea virginica*. Biological Invasions: 18:689-701.



Figure 1.1. Site Map. The locations of the San Sebastian (SS) (29° 52.131'N; 81° 18.446'W) and Bing's Landing (BL) (29° 37.560'N; 81° 12.578'W) collection sites.



Figure 1.2. Collection device modified from Dobretsov & Miron (2001).



Figure 1.3. Mean larval abundance (individual/m³) (\pm SE) of each taxanomic group pooled for near surface depth (white bars), midwater depth (light grey bars), and near bottom depth (dark grey).



Figure 1.4. Mean larval abundance (individual/ m^3) (±SE) of each taxonomic group pooled for spring tides (grey bars) and neap tides (grey bars).



Figure 1.5. Mean larval abundance $(\pm SE)$ of crab larvae with a significant interaction between depth (near surface, midwater, and near bottom) and tide (flood, ebb).

	Depth	Mean	SD	P-value		Depth	Mean	SD	P-value
ve	Near Surface	2673.53	10503.29	0.060		Near Surface	3910.70	26374.96	0.316
	Midwater	588.87	1196.27			Midwater	441.78	1406.22	
	Near Bottom	1672.45	3794.60			Near Bottom	812.45	2363.99	
	Light				e	Light			
	Day	1310.50	1310.50	0.816	aet	Day	879.44	879.44	0.454
val	Night	2206.77	9443.92		ch	Night	2990.87	23702.95	
Bi	Tide				oly	Tide			
	Spring	1479.38	6151.94	0.230	Р	Spring	1032.31	4121.10	0.162
	Neap	1905.08	7127.02			Neap	2527.25	21810.85	
	Tidal Current					Tidal Current			
	Ebb	1144.89	2714.69	0.448		Ebb	743.15	3102.13	0.154
	Flood	2291.90	9181.95			Flood	2912.40	22435.64	
	Depth	Mean	SD	P-value		Depth	Mean	SD	P-value
	Near Surface	1091.73	6539.58	0.033		Near Surface	739.45	4111.73	0.359
	Midwater	193.03	456.76			Midwater	138.38	511.31	
	Near Bottom	439.24	1043.21			Near Bottom	257.92	1140.57	
5	Light					Light			
bod	Day	319.72	867.23	0.488	Icle	Day	214.94	839.80	0.743
tro	Night	958.30	5918.78		rna	Night	624.34	3762.51	
as	Tide				Bai	Tide			
	Spring	832.16	5384.27	0.026		Spring	276.95	1107.55	0.913
	Neap	347.85	1250.48			Neap	501.80	3420.45	
	Tidal Current					Tidal Current			
	Ebb	250.72	586.54	0.051		Ebb	290.58	1236.51	0.138
	Flood	965.09	5628.73			Flood	496.94	3441.99	
	Depth	Mean	SD	P-value		Depth	Mean	SD	P-value
	Near Surface	52.60	278.50	0.795		Near Surface	513.33	3960.17	0.235
	Midwater	40.09	179.71			Midwater	17.20	44.98	
	Near Bottom	48.26	158.45			Near Bottom	114.67	567.40	
	Light					Light			
q	Day	43.71	155.10	0.706	ate	Day	58.35	316.87	0.309
ra	Night	52.12	272.49		nic	Night	447.18	3598.97	
C	Tide				Tu	Tide			
	Spring	48.31	160.01	0.001	-	Spring	53.75	317.71	0.755
	Neap	46.24	255.54			Neap	394.83	3326.88	
	Tidal Current					Tidal Current			
	Ebb	58.26	263.63	0.199		Ebb	112.57	560.44	0.031
	Flood	35.21	136.16			Flood	345.55	3371.21	

Table 1.1. Untransformed means and associated *p*-values for larval abundance. Values in bold represent significant differences ($\alpha = 0.05$) in one-way analysis of variance (bivalve, polychaete, gastropod, barnacles, crab) and Kruskall-Wallis H Test (tunicates).



Figure 2.1. Site Map. The locations of the main channel collection sites (*circles*) San Sebastian (SS) (29° 52.131'N; 81° 18.446'W) and Bing's Landing (BL) (29° 37.560'N; 81° 12.578'W); and the feeder creek sites (*triangles*) Oyster Creek (OC) (29° 53.267'N; 81° 19.210'W) and Pellicer Creek (PC) (29° 40.024'N; 81° 15.444'W).



Figure 2.2. Settlement collectors for (a) main channel sites and (b) feeder creek sites.



Figure 2.3. Mean spat (\pm SE) per plate (144 cm²) of each species during each collection month.



Figure 2.4. Mean (\pm SE) spat per plate of bivalves between depths within (a) the feeder creeks, top (white) and bottom (dark grey) and (b) depths within the main channel, top (white), mid (light grey), and bottom (dark grey). Asterisks indicate a p < 0.05 obtained from Mann-Whitney U tests. *Mytella charruana* not included in either habitat depth comparison due to low sample size.



Figure 2.5. Environmental variables (temperature (degrees celcius), salinity (ppt), and fluorescence) collected at different dates throughout the sampling periods at the main channel sites (closed circles) and feeder creek sites (open triangles).

Species	Mean Abundance	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks	U	Р	
C. virginica vs.	19.32	62.72	3324.00	016.00	0.001	
P. viridis	4.64	44.28	2347.00	910.00	0.001	
C. virginica vs.	19.32	66.34	3516.00	724 00	0 000	
G. demissa	1.43	40.66	2155.00	724.00	0.000	
C. virginica vs.	19.32	71.08	3767.50	172 50	0 000	
M. charruana	0.24	35.92	1903.50	472.30	0.000	
P. viridis vs.	4.64	58.28	3089.00	1151.00	0.067	
G. demissa	1.43	48.72	2582.00	1131.00	0.007	
P. viridis vs.	4.64	64.68	3428.00	812.00	0 000	
M. charruana	0.24	42.32	2243.00	812.00	0.000	
G. demissa vs.	1.43	60.08	3184.00	1056.00	0.001	
M. charruana	0.24	46.92	2487.00	1030.00	0.001	

Table. 2.1. Results of Mann-Whitney U test using ranked spat per plate (N = 53) Mean abundance per spat plate. Bold indicates $P \le 0.001$.

Habitat	Species	Site	Ν	Mean Abundance	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks	U	Р
Feeder Creek	C. virginica	OC	12	17.42	10.75	129.00	21.00	0.155
		PC	6	1.50	7.00	42.00		
	P. viridis	OC	8	0.36	5.88	47.00	11.00	0.220
		PC	4	1.00	7.75	31.00		0.338
Main Channel	C. virginica	SS	11	40.91	15.00	165.00	66.00	0.391
		BL	15	23.73	12.40	186.00		
	P. viridis	SS	14	2.57	12.86	180.00	75.00	0.181
		BL	15	13.53	17.00	255.00	/5.00	
	G. demissa	SS	4	5.09	9.50	38.00	28.00	0.220
		BL	22	1.64	14.23	313.00	28.00	0.239

Table 2.2 Results of Mann-Whitney U tests using ranked settlement of bivalves per platebetween sites within the feeder creek (Oyster Creek, Pellicer Creek) and the main channel (SanSebastian, Bing's Landing). Geukensia demissa not included in feeder creek site comparisons.

Species	Habitat	Ν	Mean Abundance	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks	U	Р
C. virginica	Feeder Creek	18	12.11	18.06	325.00	154.00	0.055
	Main Channel	26	31.00	25.58	665.00	134.00	
P. viridis	Feeder Creek	12	0.58	15.08	181.00	102.00	0.034
	Main Channel	29	8.24	23.45	680.00	105.00	
G. demissa	Feeder Creek	4	0.50	9.50	38.00	28.00	0.220
	Main Channel	22	3.36	14.23	313.00	28.00	0.239

Table 2.3 Results of Mann-Whitney U tests using ranked settlement of bivalves per platebetween habitats (feeder creek, main channel). *M. charruana* not included. Bold indicates P < 0.05.

VITAE

JENNIFER M. RAABE

EDUCATION

Master of Science in Biology December 2018 University of North Florida, Jacksonville, Florida

Bachelor of Science in Biology Emphasis in Environmental Biology, Minor in Chemistry December 2009 University of Southern Mississippi, Long Beach, Mississippi

Associate of Science in Bachelor of Science preparatory December 2006 Mississippi Gulf Coast Community College

EXPERIENCE

Science Laboratory Coordinator, September 2017 – Present; August 2012 – August 2016 St. Johns River State College, St. Augustine, Florida

Environmental Specialist II, August 2016 – June 2017 Florida Department of Health, Duval County, Florida

Marsh Bird Field Technician, April 2011 – July 2011 University of Georgia, Field sites in Pascagoula, Mississippi

Wildlife Technician Intern, May 2010 – August 2010 National Park Service, Ocean Springs, Mississippi

PRESENTATIONS

Raabe, J. and Gilg, M. (2017, March) Vertical distribution of meroplankton in a well-mixed estuary. Oral presentation at the Benthic Ecology Meeting in Myrtle Beach, South Carolina.

Raabe, J. and Gilg, M. (2016, March) Vertical distribution of meroplankton in a well-mixed estuary in Northeast Florida. Poster presented at the Southeastern Ecology and Evolution Conference, Tallahassee, Florida.

Raabe J. and Gilg M. (2015, November) Vertical larval distribution and settlement patterns of bivalves in a northeastern Florida estuary. Poster presented at the Coastal and Estuarine Research Federation meeting, Portland, Oregon.

Raabe J. and Gilg M. (2015, April) Vertical settlement patterns of bivalves in a northeastern Florida estuary. Poster presented at the University of North Florida Research Week, Jacksonville, Florida.

Raabe J. and Gilg M. (2015, March) Vertical settlement patterns of bivalves in a northeastern Florida estuary. Poster presented at the Southeastern Estuarine Research Society, Jacksonville, Florida.

Raabe J. and Gilg M. (2015, March) Vertical settlement patterns of bivalves in a northeastern Florida estuary. Poster presented at the Benthic Ecology Meeting, Quebec City, Canada.

Dunnigan S., **Raabe** J., and Dix N. (2015, February) *Mesodinium rubrum* bloom within a northeast Florida estuary: comparing a decade of weather and water quality measurements. Poster presented at the Guana Tolomato Matanzas National Estuarine Research Reserve State of the Reserve, Ponte Vedra, Florida.

Raabe J. and Gilg M. (2014, February) Determination of the vertical distribution of larvae of the invasive green mussel (*Perna viridis*) for use in an ecological niche model. Poster presented at the Guana Tolomato Matanzas National Estuarine Research Reserve State of the Reserve, Ponte Vedra, Florida.